Unapproved APPROVED Candia's Selectmen's Public Meeting Minutes September 22, 2014

Attendance: Chairman Carleton Robie, Vice-Chair David DePuy, Selectman Dick Snow, Selectman Amanda Soares, Selectman Boyd Chivers, and Administrative Assistant Andria Hansen.

Chairman Robie opened the meeting with the pledge of allegiance.

Approval of Previous Minutes: Public meeting minutes 9/8/14. Selectman DePuy moved to approve the minutes as amended. Seconded by Selectman Chivers. All were in favor. Motion carried.

The Board to discuss over expending the budget if necessary to complete ash landfill closure. Chairman Robie said he spoke to the Board about funds anticipated unexpended for 2014. He went over the budget with Accounting & Payroll Clerk Becker and they came up with some numbers. They are very close to the number they had at the end of 2012. Their budget is holding pretty solid. They are almost into the 4th quarter. If they went with the low bid and \$8,000 for Stantec it would give them a cost of \$110,000. This is showing unexpended at \$105,000 and they have \$36,000 left out of the \$50,000 they appropriated at the town meeting. The people obviously support our efforts to get this done. They overwhelming voted for \$50,000 increase in that budget. It got us to the point where we got the engineering completed and the testing done. He spoke with the Budget Committee and if the budget was overspent they felt that \$30,000 was acceptable. He does have the paperwork they would need for over spending. Selectman Soares said the Board did a good on the budget Saturday. She noticed the Board has an extra \$7,000 in the microfilming line and in the special projects line in solid waste. Chairman Robie said they need to do the microfilming. Selectman Soares understood but they have their priorities and if they needed to use it they could. Chairman Robie felt they had the funds to do this and won't cut themselves short come December 31st. Selectman DePuy doesn't want to over expend the budget, but he felt this was something they have to do. It has been around for a long time and we need to get that site closed. As he has said before this is something they are mandated to do and DES has been very patient in giving us more time to do it. At some point they can lose patience and just tell us to do and it won't matter what the cost is to the town. The town rejected a similar cost the last time and he thought the town was saying we don't know if that is a good price or not. Basically they told the town to be responsible and find out what is there and what is the cost. They were hoping that it would be less and it turns out that it wasn't, but that is the responsible way to do this. Before they just had a price and they were going on a gut reaction. They didn't know if it was a good price or not. They've done the additional testing and this is the only other way to go. Selectman Chivers said the only improvement he could see is if they had the DES permit in hand. They knew their standards were the ones that were set forth in the plan submitted by Stantec. There weren't any last minute surprises, so when they award the bid it is exactly the work that has to be done to comply with the permit. He asked how close they were to a permit. Chairman Robie said he was really hoping they would have a permit in hand today. Mr. Kemp was out of the office today. He explained he spoke with him a couple a weeks ago and he said they could set up the site for erosion control and bring equipment into

the site. He confirmed they were going to get a permit. There was a little confusion with the short paper fiber. This has been all sorted out. He was confident they will have a permit by the first of next week. Selectman Chivers asked if there was going to be any surprises or any new standards. Chairman Robie replied no. Selectman Chivers said if that is the case he supports this. Selectman Snow said he can't vote to over expend the bottom line on the budget. He is very concerned about the Board not taking this back to the voters. He thought if they want to spend more than the \$50,000 that was voted in the beginning of the year plus the \$30,000 in the closure fund then they need to figure out how to get the town to vote on that. A couple of years ago they agreed to a contract, the agreement was they needed to go to the town with that. It's only September, they have 3 months. They could go to a special town meeting before the end of the year and ask for an additional appropriation. If the town agrees to it based on this then they are all set. He has a problem looking at numbers now and saying maybe they can under spend. It's true that the amount that is there is equivalent to what we had as a surplus as last year. They don't know what is going to happen with the weather they could end up at the end of the year in a position where they have to over expend. He will not vote to over spend the budget based on the incinerator closure. If they had a storm, that is something that was unexplained. This was something that was available for two years now and he thought they should go to the town to get a vote. They can do it as an emergency meeting or they can put \$50,000 in next year's budget. This would say after the first of the year the money would be there and available to pay. The town would then have the opportunity to vote on it after the fact. If they voted on it after the fact they would have to cut back their budget. If they have a default budget it will have \$50,000 left in it from this year. Either way they could get the job done, this is his position. Chairman Robie said he was not asking to over spend the budget he felt they could spend it within their budget. Obviously the town voted to get this done. The community voted on a Budget Committee to be fiscally responsible for our budget, so this is why he asked them. The \$110,000 doesn't reflect the \$36,000 they still have from the \$50,000. They should have \$30,000 or \$40,000 left after they finish this in case of an emergency. If that happened and they needed to over spend, they have gotten permission if need be. The town wants them to get this done, they voted for it at Deliberative Session by appropriating \$50,000. Selectman Snow reiterated they could go to a special town meeting or they could put \$50,000 in the budget for next year. Then they could make the payment after the first of the year. They are going to have to transfer money into that closure line when they use up the \$30,000. This means they have increased an appropriation without the town having any input and that is a problem. This is a problem to him and it's his personal opinion. Selectman Chivers asked who much it cost to plow a 6 inch storm. Road Agent Lewis said basically it's how long it takes to get to 6 inches. If the duration is four hours it doesn't take much at all, if it's over twenty four it will cost a lot more. It costs about \$400 or \$500 per hour to plow, but it's anyone's guess. There is no way to predict the weather. Selectman Chivers verified that the \$30,000 could absorb that. Road Agent Lewis said he couldn't give a good guess. Selectman Chivers thought Selectman Snow brought up a good point, but he should have thought this out when they put it out to bid. There are four companies that have spent a lot of time submitting bids to the town. They owe them the business. How many times can they put this out to bid and not award the bid? Selectman Snow reiterated he gave the Board two options to do this. Chairman Robie said you can't spend money that you haven't appropriated. If someone does a job we have to pay them and if the people say no where are we going to get the money. Selectman Snow said when they signed the contract the last time they signed it contingent upon the vote of the town. Selectman Snow reiterated there are two

options. Accept it now or accept it the first of January and get the voters to vote on it in April. Selectman Soares motioned to accept the proposal Chairman Robie put before us with the operating funds that we have available to proceed with the project of closing the old recycling center on New Boston Road. Seconded by Selectman Chivers. Selectman DePuy said he would like to respond to Selectman Snow's comment and they are legally obligated by the state to close this facility. They have to do it and they put it out to bid and got bids that they are going to consider tonight. The town cannot vote to not do that, the state has mandated that we do this and we have to incur the cost. Carleton and Amanda have worked hard to get where we are and we have to bite the bullet and do it. He appreciates Selectman Snow position, but they have to do it. Chairman Robie called for a vote. Chairman Robie, Selectman DePuy, Selectman Chivers, Selectman Soares were in favor and Selectman Snow was opposed. Motion carried on a vote of 4 to 1 (4-1-0). Chairman Robie said the next step would be to award the bid for the ash landfill closure. He noted that he had some information on short paper fiber from the town engineer. They got this all straightened out in Concord. It is going to be acceptable. Selectman Snow asked if they were going with the short paper fiber. Chairman Robie said they need to discuss if they want to do that or not. Casella has committed to October 1st through October 31st. They would deliver it to the site. Selectman Chivers thought Casella was going to deliver it to the contractor. They would handle the storage and handling of this stuff. Selectman Snow didn't recall any discussion about that. Chairman Robie said there was a brief discussion, but he thought they said they are going to receive this even if they didn't have a contract but we could still put the material on site. Once they hired a contractor the material would already be there. Chairman Robie continued to read from the memo from the town engineer (see attached). He said it is the Board's decision if they want to use this product or not. He does know the State of New Hampshire is going to allow this and it is why we don't have our permit in hand. Selectman Snow said so there is no cost associated with this. He questioned Casella's added requirements for the engineers to insure that it is being done properly. They've had discussion in the past that Stantec is not going to be doing as much as what is in the bid package. He asked if there is enough money allocated to Stantec and is there an extra cost associated with it. Chairman Robie said he spoke of this earlier and yes he has a contract from Stantec. Stantec quoted \$8,300 and it is a firm fixed price. The total estimated cost for the work to be done on time and expense. If less time is needed the cost would be less. This means if Casella is hauling material there and they are bringing in good product, Stantec doesn't have to send someone out there to manage that material. They have to manage it for us or the contractor. They are coming to verify what Casella is bringing us and it is going to be satisfactory to the state specification. Selectman Snow asked if Stantec is going to be monitoring all of the action that takes place with the bid package that we put out for that \$8,300. Chairman Robie said it was just like the \$15,000 for the engineering and they reduced that down to \$11,000. Then it came back at \$2,000 more to generate the land fill permit, the bidding support, and then coordinate with the State of New Hampshire for SPF which was a \$500 fee. This was in the first package and it is an additional \$8,300 to see that the job gets done properly and Stantec will sign and stamp it and give it to DES. Selectman Snow questioned the bid itself. Significant portions of it are bid on a per yard basis. Does this imply if they do more yards estimated, there will be an additional cost? Chairman Robie replied yes. Selectman Snow confirmed they may end up with more cost then what is in the bid. Chairman Robie said that is always the case that is why they've taken this through three sets of plans and a little extra engineering to get it down to a size where the numbers are more easily estimated. They know that 1,400 yards of permeable soil, SPF or clay

will cover the area with a foot of that material. This is why they paid \$15,000 for plans that are pretty accurate. Selectman Snow said it is still an estimate. He questioned if they are going with SPF. Chairman Robie said that is a discussion they are having right now. Selectman DePuy said his gut reaction is SPF isn't the way to go, he felt clay is tried and true. SPF is new and it is DES approved, but it makes him uneasy when he hears the terms of Casella. He said when he hears the terms that we are going to be the customer and we will indemnify Casella. He would rather that they are not involved in this thing, they give it to the bidder and they do it all. The low bidders SPF is \$102,000 and with the clay it is \$112,000. He knows that it is \$10,000 more but it would make him sleep easier at night. It's not just for the material, but the contract and the terms that Casella is giving us. It is putting legal responsibility on us for the SPF. Chairman Robie didn't get the part where they are putting legal responsibility on us. Selectman Soares would like to make the motion that they use the SPF because it is approved by DES and if they are moving forward with this project she would like to do it with material approved by DES and in the most efficient and most cost effective way possible for the town. Selectman DePuy said he wasn't going to reread the memo but it says the customer shall maintain the access to the project customers and be responsible for the stockpiling of the SFP. The customer shall have the ability to manage the deliveries. The customer shall be responsible for the placement. This puts us in the line of fire as an intermediary. It is not going directly to the contractor it is going directly to the town and from the town to the site. Chairman Robie said that is why they are going to have the engineer on the site to manage the contractor. Selectman Snow said they were cutting Stantec's cost. Chairman Robie said they weren't cutting Stantec's cost we are pay \$8,300 to oversee the construction of the project. We haven't signed the contract yet. Selectman Snow said Stantec estimated the cost of what was in their bid package. They came back and they are getting less money, which is a cut in his mind. He's not going to argue about it, whether it is valid or not. He understood what Selectman DePuy was saying, but this whole thing was a crap shoot. The material they talked about years ago is still there and is going to stay there. As long as what is put on the cap doesn't create conditions to allow anything in there, anything that goes in there would have to go through one cap and then another and then go into the water before DES cares. They aren't taking this off site and that is a problem in his mind and they are doing it this way to say money. At some point in time they may have to spend more money, but if he saved \$10,000 here they don't have any more indemnity then if it goes through the clay and ends up in the water. It could go through the SFP and end up in the water. Chairman Robie said the only indemnity they have on this is they have tested the material to prove that it is none leach able; it came back as solid waste. If anything ends up in the water it is going to be from underneath what they are doing. We have done \$33,000 worth of testing on the ash. Selectman Snow said he knew he did the same thing two years ago. He felt the SPF was as good as the clay and if they follow specs and if Stantec is there to follow best management practices, they save \$10,000. Chairman Robie would like to get a second on Selectman Soares motion. Selectman Chivers agreed with Selectman DePuy and didn't think you could go wrong with the clay. They are responsible for managing this stuff. Chairman Robie said the motion was made and not seconded, so it failed for a lack of a second. Selectman Soares confirmed that the Board was willing to waste an extra \$10,000 for clay when everyone has been worried about the money in the budget. They want to waste an extra \$10,000 and not use the SPF which is acceptable to DES. Selectman Chivers said he wouldn't characterize it as wasting. Selectman Snow said neither would he and he would characterize it as her opinion. Selectman Soares said they already have a clay cap and they are capping what is considered non hazards and non leach able.

It's solid waste they are just putting something over it. Selectman Chivers said it is an organic substance that could rot. If you cap that with sawdust in fifty years there will be nothing left. If you cap with clay in fifty years you will still have clay. Selectman Soares said they also have an old landfill that we never properly done the way landfills should be done today. They have no assurance that anything was properly capped before. Chairman Robie said this is going to improve what is there tenfold. Whatever they do there will improve the cap. This is why they had to go through the permitting process because they didn't have a permit. He likes the clay idea himself but he didn't know how they were going to pay for it. He does know they don't have to hire Stantec to be there if they don't use the SPF. This way they could reduce the \$8,300 to \$7,000. He mentioned the 1,400 yards of clay being hauled to the site and the cost is reasonable if you do the math. He was concerned about Mr. Ladd's high bid on the clay just knowing a little bit about dirt. Selectman Snow asked about the cover over the cap and is it still going to be the same thing. Chairman Robie said it would be loam. He noted that Mr. Ladd got two good recommendations from Stantec and two people he contacted. He has the recommendations if anyone wanted to see them. He mentioned the other bids and the difference between the clay and SPF is double. This is the only thing that makes him nervous. Daniel Ladd's is off by half and he doesn't want to see anyone get in trouble. He is nervous for the contractor. Selectman Snow asked if any of the contractors were not qualified to do the job. Chairman Robie said they were all qualified and he does have references from the low bidder. Selectman Snow would like to go with the lowest bid. Chairman Robie clarified that it isn't the town's responsibility if the contractor comes up short on the material. He just wanted the Board to be aware of that. Selectman DePuy made the motion to accept the Daniel Ladd's base bid at \$112,534 and use the clay. Seconded by Selectman Snow. Chairman Robie reiterated that Stantec would not cost \$8,300, but probably around \$7,000. Selectman Snow said that is over and above the bid itself and there are going to be other cost associated with it. Chairman Robie said they have a pretty good idea of the costs. Selectman Chivers said the contract is pretty comprehensive. Selectman Snow noted the engineering might turn out to be more other than that Daniel Ladd is going to do what is in that bid for \$112,534. He noted if they aren't doing something he can look at the bid and say this isn't being done. Selectman Chivers asked what items he was referring to. Selectman Snow said any items in the bid package. Chairman Robie said that is why they pay Stantec to do this instead of us being on site. Selectman Soares found it amazing that they found money in the budget and you proceed to go for a bid that is over what we figured out to be the amount of money that we could possible squeeze within the budget. Instead of being cautious with our money you are going on the high side. It really isn't appropriate when you are dealing with other people's money. When we have to use this money you don't want to go to the high side when they are trying to be cautious with money. Selectman Chivers responded that we were being cautious with our land. Selectman Soares said they are not being cautious with money. Selectman Chivers said land is a little more irreplaceable than money and in 25 to 30 years it could be a greater burden to our community because we made a bad choice. Selectman Soares said they should go with the cheaper price so they would have a cushion if unforeseeable things happen or change of orders take place. Selectman Snow asked her why she didn't support having the voters vote on this. Selectman Soares replied because it needs to get done. Chairman Robie was confident that SPF was a good material. Doug Kemp from DES recommended it to Stantec and himself during the first meeting and he and Rene shied away from it. He felt more comfortable with it as they received more information. He said the motion has been made and seconded and called for a vote. Selectman DePuv, Selectman

Chivers, Selectman Snow were in favor and Chairman Robie and Selectman Soares were opposed. Motion carried on a vote of 3 to 2 (3-2-0). Chairman Robie said he would contact Stantec and DES in the morning. Selectman Soares asked how much longer was this going to take to get there permit now that they've changed it back to clay. Chairman Robie said hopefully by the end of the week and changing it will be easy. He noted hopefully they can get started next week.

Selectman DePuy to give update on the perpetual care funds. Selectman DePuy said he gave each Selectman a report, but he was going to give a brief presentation. This study is based on 2013 and it involved a lot of work by Superintendent of Cemeteries Jerry Becker. The overall thing they were trying to do was figure out how much of the perpetual care interest they could justify under the law be paid to the town. The annual report for 2013 says \$4,148 with accumulated interest of \$14,592 with a total fund of \$202,251. There were 406 lots listed with perpetual care funds held in trust as of the end of December 2013. They produced an income of \$4,148 which was an average of \$10.22 per lot. The Town of Candia sells cemetery plots by lot not by grave. A lot can have 20 graves or 1 grave and the sizes of graves differ. This was not an easy matter to tackle. Jerry Becker went back 20 years (1991) to the square footage of lots of those graves during of that time with perpetual care. In 1991 there were 119 lots sold in Holbrook Cemetery with perpetual care with the total square footage 17,961 square feet, so the average square footage was 151 square feet. If they multiply that with the number of lots with perpetual care and there were six more added since the end of 2013 that brings the square footage of the perpetual care lots to 62,061 square feet. Most of the perpetual care lots are at the Holbrook Cemetery. The total square footage of Holbrook is 273,648 square feet. The total square footage of the lots at the Holbrook Cemetery is 23% of the total square footage of that cemetery. Jerry prepared an estimated time to care for the cemeteries and determined that it took 740 hours to care for the cemeteries. 504 hours were on Holbrook and represented 68% of the total time. If they took 23% of those perpetual care lots and the 68% the cost to care for Holbrook would be \$17,668 and 23% of that is \$4,674 which is almost the amount of the interest. This is a way to say the cost of the perpetual care lots is almost as much as the interest is. He sent a memo to Terry Knowles at the Attorney General's Office and asked what she thought of it. She said there are three ways that town can do this. One is calculating the cost to care for each lot by lot most towns have grave by grave but they don't recommend that. They could calculate the average cost per lot and charge the cost of care on that basis or calculate the cost based on the ratio of perpetual care to non perpetual care graves. This is basically what they did. He explained to her that some lots have perpetual care interest that is just around \$20 or less. He mentioned one is \$113.60 and some are \$75. She thought it would be wise to reduce those charges and place a limit. He suggested that \$25 be the maximum amount of interest that the town would take per perpetual care lot. This would result in not taking interest of \$600.51 and it would reduce the amount of interest we could take of perpetual lot to \$3,547.49. He has set forth the law here and he noted to her that would involve for some lots taking as much as \$15 more than the average. Her comment to him was it was de minimis when you look at the whole scheme of things. He is making a presumption of the lots earning more interest. There are larger lots that have more graves; some urns and some have plantings. To try to figure out what each grave costs would change from year to year and it's impractical. She has agreed with this way of doing it and her department would approve it. He is making this recommendation to the Board that they go to the Trustees of the Trust Fund for the \$3,547.49 for 2013 and they will go back to prior years to do it the same way to justify what they can get there. He thought the amount was

approximately \$14,000. Selectman Soares liked the report and acknowledged that Jerry Becker did a substantial amount of work. Selectman DePuy said he would make his recommendation a motion to request for 2013 the interest for perpetual care in the amount of \$3,547.49. Chairman Robie said he would like to solicit the trustees for the full amount based on the work they did for the year 2014. Selectman Soares said they can use this going forward every year. Chairman Robie thought they should be asking for the \$14,000 that hasn't been paid to the town from the trustees for the past years. Selectman DePuy said there is \$4,100 in interest and they can only ask for \$3,546 this year. He thought the best they could do is ask for \$3,600 per year. Selectman DePuy said his motion would be to ask for \$3,547.49 for 2013 and go back to former years using the same formula. Seconded by Selectman Soares. Selectman Snow said he had two problems with this. One is that you can't go back into the years. It is a very good check. He is surprised to see that 15.64% is a magic number and it gets you almost exactly what they get in interest. The Cemetery Trustee's are going to have to provide a voucher that gives you the amount that you want to take out of every one of those individual trusts. This is a significant effort to do. His mentioned that income per lot is \$10.22 and the expense per lot is \$9.89. Over the years the income was transferred directly from the Trustees of Trust Funds to the Superintendent of Cemeteries. This was never a problem and he doesn't see it as a problem here. They should ask for the \$4,148. The income in this year's column is anticipated revenue therefore can come directly to the town for this year's costs. It's anticipated because we know what it was at the end of the year. If that is available this year and was in the anticipated revenues, it allows you to go get it as an inter fund transfer. If they go to the trustees and ask for the \$4,148 out of 2013 they are going to get it. If they try to do what really should be done (i.e. Dave & Jerry report), they can discuss that as Cemetery Trustees at their next meeting if they want to. He believed they could go for the whole \$4,148. Chairman Robie said Selectman Snow is saying that whatever the Board wants the trustees will give to us. They have been trying to get this money for the past 4 years and someone has held it up. Dave and Jerry have worked countless hours on this report. Now you throw your hands up in the air and say they ought to give us the whole thing. Selectman Snow said that Terry Knowles has said you can't go back in time. This is a question that Selectman DePuy didn't ask her. Selectman DePuy said he was not confident that would work because there are individual lots and a lot of them don't produce \$10.00 some \$2.00 etc. Selectman Snow replied what Terry told you was de minimis. What she meant was if you come up with an average cost of per lot, you come up with an average interest per lot. This means that the town is doing a great job and it is taking care of the lots. The cost to do that comes out of perpetual care. It is a significant clerical problem if what they have to do is say alright were only going to take some of the interest out of that account this year. They would still have an accumulated interest. Unless the Trustees of Trust Funds question it Terry is never going to hear about it. Selectman DePuy said they are each individual trusts and they each have to be charged. If you do it that way there just isn't enough money. They would have to charge the lot that is producing \$113.00. You would have to charge them the \$138. Selectman Snow didn't think there was anyone in there that is earning \$130 per year. Chairman Robie said there was a couple. Selectman Snow thought if they go to the probate court the probate judge is going to say no. Chairman Robie thought Selectman DePuy and Superintendent of Cemeteries Jerry Becker did a phenomenal job and Dave has explained this to the best of his abilities. Chairman Robie called for a vote. All were in favor. Motion carried. Selectman Soares asked Selectman DePuy to thank Jerry Becker for his hard work.

The Board to reappoint Carol Howe as a full member of the Heritage Commission. Selectman Soares motioned to reappoint Carol Howe as a full member to the Heritage Commission. Seconded by Selectman Chivers. All were in favor. Motion carried.

The Board to appoint William Dunbar to the Candia Volunteer Fire Department as a paramedic and accept Firefighter Charles Wojcik's resignation. Selectman Chivers motioned to appoint William Dunbar as a paramedic to the Candia Volunteer Fire Department effective September 22, 2014. Seconded by Selectman Soares. All were in favor. Motion carried. Selectman Chivers motioned to accept Charles Wojciks's letter of resignation with regret. Seconded by Selectman Snow. All were in favor. Motion carried. Chairman Robie said Charles was an asset to the Candia Volunteer Fire Department. Chairman Robie said they had an emergency call on Sunday afternoon and Fire Chief Young and Officer Dan Gray most likely saved the man's life. He mentioned that paramedic Dr. Jon Siedner showed up on the scene as well. Chairman Robie thanked the Fire Department and the Police Department. Fire Chief Young said the departments worked well together and he thanked Officer Gray for what he did. Hopefully this gentleman will improve; he was in ICU the last he heard. Fire Chief Young mentioned the other people who assisted on this call were EMT Matt Richter, Firefighter Kyle Ball, Officer Mahoney, and two guys from AMR.

The Board to approve CNP invoices and the Bourassa Contraction invoice. Chairman Robie said there were two invoices. The two invoices were in the amount of \$1,938 and \$1,163. Chairman Robie motioned to request the funds in the amount of \$3,101 to be paid out of the reval fund. Seconded by Selectman Soares. All were in favor. Motion carried. Chairman Robie said the invoice for Bourassa Construction in the amount \$13,000.13 would be paid out of the Henry Moore Fund. Selectman Snow said they are doing this as a due in from the Henry Moore Highway Fund and it's not showing as an expenditure in the highway department. He questioned if this was part of our anticipated revenues. Is the money from the Moore Highway Fund included as anticipated revenues? Chairman Robie didn't believe that it was. The Moore Highway Fund reads if you have a special project you can solicit the trustees for the funds and they will give it to you if you have a bill. He thought he did this the same way. Selectman Snow said when we were supposedly over expended on our bottom line in 2009, we didn't really at the end of the year. He was talking to our auditor at that point in time and he mentioned the due in accounts and the auditor told him to not tell her about that. He's asking himself how the Budget Committee knows that we spent \$13,000.13 on the highway department. If they put it in as a due in it doesn't show as an expenditure in the highway fund it shows as a direct inter fund transfer. Is that how we are doing it? Road Agent Lewis explained they pay the invoice out of the highway department and at the end of the year it gets reimbursed by the Trustees of the Trust Fund. It shows as an over expenditure in his bottom line because they have the income to offset the over expenditure. The people generally know that he over expended his bottom line by that amount of money, because they have income coming in. Chairman Robie said specifically for the highway because that is how it was written. Road Agent Lewis said it can't be spent anywhere else other than the highways and a specific project. Every year they try to bill a specific project to the Moore Highway fund. Selectman Snow said he wasn't questioning what Dennis was doing. In the past what they have done is at the end of the year the money that comes out is given to the town and put in anticipated revenue. If it is unanticipated revenue that means they need to have a hearing to accept the money. They aren't booking it to his account; they are

booking it to a due in account. Chairman Robie felt the way they have been doing it has worked out very well. The fund is very self explanatory. He asked if they could keep doing it the way they have. Selectman Snow thought it was a question for DRA. He doesn't want to be a part of cooking the books. Road Agent Lewis said for years the town never took the interest money and put it into a project. The fund grew to \$300,000, because the town never used it from the 70's on. Then Selectman Snow picked up on it and we started using it again and that is why we are where we are at. They did a special project that year under Selectman Snow's direction for "x" amount of dollars, whatever the interest was and they've done it that way ever since. Selectman Snow said the highway fund is to pay for special projects. The question he has is how we are booking it. In the past they gave the money to the town, told Carolyn Emerson this is the amount available in the Henry Moore Fund. She put it in as anticipated revenues and we charged it to the Road Agent's department. Chairman Robie said that is what they are doing now. Selectman Snow said it is gross budgeting, he included it in his appropriation. Road Agent Lewis said it always shows up as an over expenditure. Selectman Soares motioned to request the amount of \$13,000.13 from the Henry Moore Highway Fund from the Trustees of the Trust Fund. Seconded by Selectman DePuy. All were in favor. Motion carried.

The Board to authorize payment of payroll checks and accounts payable checks. Chairman Robie announced the grand total of payroll and accounts payable checks for September 18th and September 25th was \$107,667.60. Selectman Snow motioned to accept the accounts payable and payroll checks for September 18th and September 25th in the amount of \$107,667.60. Seconded by Selectman Soares. All were in favor. Motion carried.

Pond Park culvert: Selectman Snow mentioned that Road Agent Lewis did some work on the culvert and it was charged to Road Agent Lewis's budget. The charges should be transferred to Pond Park maintenance. This isn't listed as one of the Fire Departments ponds. It really should be. Road Agent Lewis clarifed he only charged his wages. The material went to winter maintenance. He bought some 2 x 4's and some nails, the whole thing cost \$300. Selectman Snow reiterated it should have come out of pond park maintenance. Chairman Robie said he would have Accounting and Payroll Clerk Donna Becker change that in the morning.

Other Business

Town Clerk's budget: Selectman Soares asked about the Town Clerk's budget and they always run into the problem with the Deputy Clerk's line being over. As of the end of July there was only \$2,300 left in the line and last year she was over. She didn't understand how she is consistently over every year. They need to possibly discuss this with the Town Clerk. Chairman Robie said all the department heads can move the money in their budget as long as they don't over spend it. Selectman Soares asked what was left in their budget. Chairman Robie thought it was around 30%. Selectman Soares asked if they were going to let them move a payroll line. Chairman Robie didn't think they had much say over the Town Clerk. Selectman Soares they do regarding the deputy. Selectman Snow said Selectman Soares didn't attend the budget hearing. This would be the change in the budget, because the deputy is leaving. Chairman Robie said there was no change in what they appropriated. He thought Selectman Soares had a totally different topic going here. She is concerned that the Town Clerk is using the deputy more than

she has appropriated for. Selectman Soares said they had this talk with her last year. She's been given a payroll line she should stick within that line. She continually goes over the payroll line and is it acceptable for her to do that. Selectman Snow doesn't remember those discussions, he is happy the way she is doing things. Selectman Soares noted the deputy line is always in the negative. Chairman Robie asked if the Board would like him to speak with the Town Clerk about this. Selectman Soares understood she is elected, but she needs to respect the payroll line. She would like Chairman Robie to speak to her. Selectman Snow said the reason it goes over is because every year she has asked for an increase and hasn't been increased. Selectman Soares said if other departments have asked for an increase in this line and if we don't give it to them they don't go over. If they do go over we hold them accountable.

Depot Road closure. Road Agent Lewis mentioned they are going to have a meeting in Raymond on September 29th. Everyone is invited or DOT will hold one here. He thought they should hold a meeting here, because it looks like they are going to close Depot Road between April and November of next year. They are going to take the deck off the bridge over Route 101. The memo they sent in July said they could do a partial closure and do one lane at a time, but it will take longer and cost more money. Selectman Chivers asked about the school buses. Road Agent Lewis said they are going to have to re-route them. Chairman Robie asked if Road Agent Lewis had a recommendation. Road Agent Lewis said he didn't. Selectman Soares felt they would get it done faster if they closed the road. It was the consensus of the Board to have the DOT come to a meeting in October to explain the project.

Chairman Robie motioned to adjourn at 8:37 p.m. Seconded by Selectman Soares. All were in favor. Motion carried.

Respectfully submitted, Andria Hansen Recording Secretary